

# FACULDADE DE MEDICINA UNIVERSIDADE D COIMBRA

# MESTRADO INTEGRADO EM MEDICINA – TRABALHO FINAL

# JOSÉ CARLOS ROCHA PIRES FERREIRA

# Incidence of infective endocarditis after transcatheter aortic valve implantation versus aortic valve replacement surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis

ARTIGO DE REVISÃO SISTEMÁTICA

ÁREA CIENTÍFICA DE CARDIOLOGIA

Trabalho realizado sob a orientação de: PROF. DOUTOR ROGÉRIO PAIVA CARDOSO TEIXEIRA DR. GONÇALO NUNO FERRAZ COSTA

ABRIL/2024

# INCIDENCE OF INFECTIVE ENDOCARDITIS AFTER TRANSCATHETER AORTIC VALVE IMPLANTATION VERSUS AORTIC VALVE REPLACEMENT SURGERY: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW AND META-ANALYSIS

José Carlos Pires Ferreira<sup>1</sup>; Gonçalo Costa<sup>2</sup>, MD; Rogério Teixeira<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, PhD

- 1 Faculdade de Medicina, Universidade de Coimbra, Portugal
- 2 Serviço de Cardiologia, Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra, Portugal

Table of Contents	
Abstract	5
Abbreviations	6
Introduction	7
Methods	8
Protocol and registration	8
Literature search	8
Eligibility criteria	9
Primary and secondary outcomes	9
Data collection and management	9
Risk of bias assessment10	0
Statistical analysis	0
Results1	1
Search results	1
Primary outcome	6
Secondary outcomes	9
Discussion	0
Limitations	2
Conclusion	2
Support22	2
Competing interests	2
Acknowledgements	3
References	4

#### Abstract

**Introduction:** Infective endocarditis (IE) after transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) and surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) is a rare but life-threatening complication.

**Objective:** To compare the risk of IE between TAVI and SAVR.

**Methods:** We performed a systematic searched PubMed, Embase and Cochrane database, between July and August 2023, to identify observational and interventional studies that reported the event rate of IE in both TAVI and SAVR. A Mantel-Haenszel method and a random-effects model was used to calculate the odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI).

**Results:** Forty-one studies were included in which seventeen were randomised clinical trials. A total of 170720 patients were included, providing 4062 pooled infective endocarditis events (854 in TAVI and 3208 in SAVR), resulting in an incidence of 2% and 2,5% in TAVI and SAVR, respectively. Our meta-analysis revealed a lower incidence of IE in TAVI patients compared to SAVR (pooled odds ratio [OR], 0.72; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.58, 0.89, P < 0.01; I<sup>2</sup> = 63%). However, sub-analysis of randomized controlled trials showed no significant difference between TAVI and SAVR (pooled OR, 0.93; 95% CI [0.66, 1.31], P = 0.68, I<sup>2</sup> = 21%). Sub-analysis of surgical risk revealed no significant difference across the surgical risk (low, intermediate, and high), but a trend was noted favouring TAVI in higher surgical risk patients (pooled OR 0.55; 95% CI [0.28, 1.11], P = 0.09, I<sup>2</sup> = 50%). Studies reporting IE incidence at 1 year follow-up showed a similar result between groups (pooled OR 0.87; 95% CI [0.59, 1.30], P = 0.51, I<sup>2</sup> = 5%), as well at 5-year follow-up (pooled OR 0.76; 95% CI [0.41, 1.41], P = 0.38, I<sup>2</sup> = 78%).

**Conclusions:** Our study suggests a lower incidence of IE in TAVI compared to SAVR patients, albeit no significant difference was obtained in randomized controlled trials. These findings possibly highlight discrepancy between real world experience and clinical trials.

# PROSPERO registration number CRD42023391169.

# Abbreviations

- AS aortic stenosis
- IE infective endocarditis
- TAVI transcatheter aortic valve implantation
- SAVR surgical aortic valve replacement
- ESC European society of cardiology

#### Introduction

Aortic stenosis (AS) is the most common primary valve lesion requiring valvular intervention in Europe and North America. It is most often of degenerative aetiology. Therefore, its prevalence is rising rapidly because of the ageing population.<sup>1</sup>

Surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR) has long been the gold standard for treatment of aortic valve disease, with well-documented benefits in terms of symptom improvement and survival.<sup>2</sup> In the last decades, transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) has been developed, and it is increasingly used for patients across surgical risk profiles, leading to an expanded population with prosthetic valves.<sup>3,4</sup> Multiple studies have demonstrated TAVI to be either noninferior or even superior to SAVR.<sup>4–7</sup>

Prosthetic valve endocarditis is the most severe form of infective endocarditis (IE) and occurs in 1–6% of patients with valve prostheses, with an incidence of 0.3–1.2% per patient-year.<sup>8</sup> Although the risk of IE after SAVR is well-characterized, data on the risk of this complication in the setting of TAVI is sparse and limited by either lack of long-term follow-up or a small number of patients.<sup>9</sup> Considering some characteristics of patients eligible for TAVI (i.e., advanced age and high burden of comorbidities), there is an hypothesis that these patients may be more likely to develop IE than those undergoing SAVR, although the former is less invasive and has a shorter hospitalization duration than the latter.<sup>6</sup>

Therefore, we aim to perform a systematic review and meta-analysis comparing patients that underwent TAVI versus SAVR, targeting the rate of post-procedural IE, all-cause mortality, and stroke.

## Methods

## **Protocol and registration**

This systematic review was designed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses statement (**supplemental Table 1 and 2**) and was registered in the PROSPERO database (CRD42023391169).

## Literature search

We systematically searched PubMed, Embase and Cochrane Controlled Register of Trials (CENTRAL), between July and August 2023, for full-length, and both interventional and observational studies that reported the event rate of IE in both TAVI and SAVR in patients with symptomatic severe AS. The search did not include date or language limits. The full search strategy is presented in **Table 1**.

### Table 1. Search Strategy.

Da	atabase - MESH	Number	of results	
Ρι	ıbMed Search	Individual Search Results	Total Results	Date
((( Er Inf Inf Er ("E va Ac va va va	(Endocarditis[Title/Abstract] OR docarditides[Title/Abstract] OR Infective docarditis[Title/Abstract] OR Endocarditides, ective[Title/Abstract] OR Endocarditis, ective[Title/Abstract] OR Infective docarditides[Title/Abstract]) OR Endocarditis"[Mesh])) AND (Transcatheter aortic valve blacement[Title/Abstract] OR Transcatheter aortic lve implantation[Title/Abstract])) OR ("Transcatheter ortic Valve Replacement"[Mesh])) AND (Surgical aortic lve replacement[Title/Abstract] OR Surgical aortic lve implantation[Title/Abstract] OR Surgical aortic lve replacement[Title/Abstract]]	1431		
#	Empase search			
	'endocarditis'/exp OR endocarditis OR endocarditides OR 'infective endocarditis'/exp OR 'infective endocarditis' OR (infective AND ('endocarditis'/exp OR endocarditis))			
2	'surgical aortic valve replacement'/exp OR 'surgical aortic valve replacement' OR (surgical AND aortic AND ('valve'/exp OR valve) AND ('implantation'/exp OR implantation)) OR 'surgical aortic valve repair' OR (surgical AND aortic AND ('valve'/exp OR valve) AND ('repair'/exp OR repair)) OR savr		2403	07/07/2023
3	'transcatheter aortic valve replacement'/exp OR 'transcatheter aortic valve replacement OR			

	(transcatheter AND aortic AND ('valve'/exp OR valve)		
	AND ('replacement'/exp OR replacement)) OR tavr		
	OR 'transcatheter aortic valve implantation'/exp OR		
	'transcatheter aortic valve implantation' OR		
	(transcatheter AND aortic AND ('valve'/exp OR valve)		
	AND ('implantation'/exp OR implantation)) OR		
	'tavi'/exp OR tavi		
4	#1 AND #2 AND #3	955	
C	ENTRAL search		
Er	ndocarditis OR Endocarditides OR Infective	17	
er	docarditis AND Transcatheter aortic valve replacement		
0	R Transcatheter aortic valve implantation AND Surgical		
ac	rtic valve replacement OR Surgical Aortic valve		
im	plantation OR Surgical aortic valve repair		

### **Eligibility criteria**

Studies that fulfilled the following criteria were included: (1) patients with severe or very severe AS; (2) comparison between TAVI and SAVR; (3) information on post-procedural outcomes during follow-up was reported, mainly the rates of IE. We excluded studies that didn't report the outcome of interest, studies that didn't compare TAVI and SAVR, case reports or editorial material.

#### Primary and secondary outcomes

The primary outcome was the rate of IE. Secondary endpoints were all-cause mortality and stroke.

#### Data collection and management

Two authors (J. Ferreira, G. Costa) systematically screened titles and abstracts of publications retrieved according to a search strategy to select studies that met the inclusion criteria outlined above. Second, identified articles were subjected to full-text review. Any disagreement between them over the eligibility of studies was resolved through discussion and involvement of a third author (R. Teixeira), when necessary. Data were extracted on the study population, main demographics and baseline characteristics, interventions and the outcomes described above. The number of patients in each arm was defined according to the type of intervention (TAVI versus SAVR).

#### Risk of bias assessment

Two review authors (J. Ferreira, G. Costa) independently assessed the risk of bias in the included articles, following the Cochrane Collaboration's 'risk of bias' tool for randomised controlled trials (RCTs).

The risk of bias in the included observational studies was assessed by a Newcastle-Ottawa Scale for observational studies.

RCTs were assessed as having a 'low', 'high' or 'unclear' risk for the following biases: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting, and other biases. The quality assessment for each study is presented in the 'risk of bias summary' (**supplementary Table 3**) and Newcastle-Ottawa Scale summary (**supplementary Table 4**).

Publication bias was assessed visually using funnel plots. A p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Subgroup analysis of randomized controlled trials for primary outcome was performed to assess the intervention effect with the least amount of bias and confounding factors inherent to the study design.

Additionally, a sub-analysis of surgical risk (low, intermediate, and high) and studies reporting IE at 1-, 2- and 5-year follow-up was elaborated.

#### Statistical analysis

To perform statistical analysis, we used Review manager 5.4 from the Cochrane Collaboration, computing meta-analysis of the studies for the endpoints defined (rate of endocarditis, all-cause mortality, and stroke). We pooled dichotomous data using ORs to describe effect sizes and a Mantel-Haenszel procedure in a random-effects model. The mean effect was considered significant if its 95% CI did not include zero. Heterogeneity was assessed statistically using an I<sup>2</sup> index (<25% low, 25%-50% moderate, >50% high heterogeneity).



Figure 1 Flow diagram of literature search. \* No automation tools were used in identification of records.

#### Results

#### **Search results**

The literature search identified 2403 articles. After removal of duplicates, we excluded 1860 publications according to title and abstract assessment, study type and study population.

Forty-one publications were included (17 RCTs and 24 observational studies) (**Figure 1**), providing a total of 170720 patients, of which 4062 were pooled infective endocarditis events (854 in TAVI and 3208 in SAVR). Study characteristics related to the included studies are described in **Table 2** and demographics and baseline characteristics

of the included patients are summarised in supplementary Table 5. IE was adjudicated according to the modified Duke criteria and Valve Academic Research Consortium in most of the studies.

The most common microorganisms are summarised in supplementary Table 6. Enterococci and Streptococci are the two most common microorganisms involved in IE post-TAVI, followed by Staphylococcus aureus and Coagulase-negative staphylococci. For IE post-SAVR, Streptococci and Enterococci are the two most common, followed by Coagulase-negative staphylococci and Staphylococcus aureus.

					EuroSCORE II, %		STS Score, %		Number of patients, n	
Study	Desing	Prosthetic valve endocarditis criteria	Study period	Follow-up time	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR
Abdelfattah et al 2021 <sup>10</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated by the investigation team	2012- 2017	30 days	NR	NR	NR	NR	762	1278
Amrane et al 2019 <sup>11</sup>	Post hoc analysis	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2012- 2016	1 year	11.9+- 7.6	11.6+- 8.0	4.4+-1.5	4.5+-1.6	864	791
Bianco et al 2019 <sup>13</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Based on diagnostic admissions codes.	2011- 2017	5 years	NR	NR	7.96+- 4.71	2.73+- 2.93	1034	1345
Brízido et al 2021 <sup>14</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2009- 2017	Mean follow-up: 4.5-years	2.43 (1.71- 3.03)	2.11 (1.49- 3.0)	NR	NR	79	79
Butt et al 2019 <sup>9</sup>	Retrospective cohort	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>15</sup>	2008- 2016	Mean follow-up: 3.6-years	NR	NR	NR	NR	2632	3777
Cahill et al 2022 <sup>4</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated by the investigation team	2007- 2016	Mean follow-up TAVI 24.5 months SAVR 53.9 months	16.1 (10.7- 25.3)	5.8 (3.3- 10.1)	NR	NR	14195	91962
Calderón-Parra et al 2023 <sup>3</sup>	Prospective cohort	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>15</sup>	2015- 2020	Mean follow-up: TAVI 41 months SAVR 38 months	5.5 (3.2– 8.8)	1.4 (0.8– 2.3)	NR	NR	278	355
Conte et al 2016 <sup>16</sup>	Post hoc analysis	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-1 <sup>17</sup>	2011- 2012	1 year	25.6+- 16.2 (22.6)	24.2+- 15.8 (21.2)	7.3+-2.7 (7.0)	8.0+-3.5 (7.4)	115	111
										Continued

#### Table 2. Study Characteristics.

Continued

					EuroSCORE II, %		STS Score, %		Number of patients n	
Study	Desing	Prosthetic valve endocarditis criteria	Study period	Follow-up time	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR
Deeb et al 2016 <sup>18</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-1 <sup>17</sup>	2011- 2012	3 years	17.7+- 13.0	18.8+- 13.2	7.3+-3.0	7.5+-3.3	391	359
Dubois et al 2013 <sup>19</sup>	Prospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-1 <sup>17</sup>	2008- 2011	Mean follow-up: TAVI 25 months SAVR 38 months	7.8 (4.8– 12.9)	7.7 (4.2– 13.6)	7.3 (5.7– 10.6)	6.6 (5.3– 10.8)	73	35
Falcon et al 2014 <sup>20</sup>	Prospective cohort	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>15</sup>	2009- 2012	1 year	NR	NR	NR	NR	51	102
Fauchier et al 2020 <sup>6</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Based on diagnostic admissions codes	2010- 2018	Mean follow-up: 2.0 years	3.57 ± 1.04	3.55 ± 1.01	NR	NR	16291	16291
Fernandez- Aviles et al 2022 <sup>21</sup>	Prospective cohort	Adjudicated by the investigation team	2012- 2020	8 anos	NR	NR	NR	NR	520	652
Forrest et al 2022 <sup>22</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to Valve Academic Research Consortium-3 <sup>23</sup>	2016- 2019	2 years	NR	NR	2.0+-0.7	1.9+-0.7	725	678
Forrest et al 2023 <sup>24</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to Valve Academic Research Consortium-3 <sup>23</sup>	2016- 2019	3 years	NR	NR	2.0+-0.7	1.9+-0.7	730	684
Gleason et al 2018 <sup>25</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-1 <sup>17</sup>	2011- 2012	5 years	17.7+- 13.0	18.8+- 13.2	7.3+-3.0	7.5+-3.3	391	359
Jorgensen et al 2021 <sup>26</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2009- 2014	8 years	NR	NR	2.9+-1.7	2.9+-1.6	145	135
Leon et al 2016 <sup>28</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2011- 2013	2 years	NR	NR	5.8±2.1	5.8±1.9	1011	1021
Leon et al 2021 <sup>5</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2016- 2017	2 years	1.5 ± 1.2	1.5 ± 0.9	1.9 ± 0.7	1.9±0.6	496	454
	<u> </u>						1			Continued

					EuroSCORE II, %		STS Score, %		Number of patients, n	
Study	Desing	Prosthetic valve endocarditis criteria	Study period	Follow-up time	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR
Mack et al 2015 <sup>29</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2007- 2009	5 years	NR	NR	11.8 ± 3.3	11.7 ± 3.5	358	351
Madhavan et al 2023 <sup>30</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	NR	Mean follow-up: 4.70 years	NR	NR	5.5+-1.30	5.5+-1.54	783	783
Makkar et al 2020 <sup>31</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the Duke's criteria <sup>27</sup>	2011- 2013	5 years	NR	NR	5.8±2.1	5.8±1.9	1011	1021
Moriyama et al 2019 <sup>7</sup>	Retrospective cohort	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>15</sup>	2008- 2017	Mean follow-up: 3.5±2.6 years	5.4±5.6	5.6±6.6	3.9±2.6	4.1±3.7	2130	4333
Muneretto et al 2015 <sup>32</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated by the investigation team	2007- 2014	2 years	19.5+-6.7	19.2+-7.4	8.2+-4.2	8.3+-4.4	367	336
Popma et al 2019 <sup>33</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2016- 2018	2 years	NR	NR	1.9±0.7	1.9±0.7	725	678
Ramlawi et al 2022 <sup>34</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2016- 2018	2 years	NR	NR	1.9+-0.7	1.9+-0.7	722	680
Reardon et al 2015 <sup>35</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-1 <sup>17</sup>	2011- 2012	2 years	17.7+- 13.0	18+-13.2	7.3+-3.0	7.5+-3.3	391	359
Robertson et al 2022 <sup>36</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated by the investigation team	2010- 2020	Mean follow-up: TAVI 1.5 years SAVR 3.8 years	NR	NR	NR	NR	16	30
Saito et al 2022 <sup>2</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated by the investigation team	2015- 2019	4 years	NR	NR	6.7±4.6	5.7±6.6	230	195

					EuroSCOR	E II, %	STS Scor	re, %	Number of patients, n	
Study	Desing	Prosthetic valve endocarditis criteria	Study period	Follow-up time	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR	TAVI	SAVR
Sehatzadeh et al 2012 <sup>37</sup>	Post hoc analysis	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2007- 2011	Mean follow-up: 1.4 years	NR	NR	11.8± 3.3	11.7 ± 3.5	333	300
Shehada et al 2018 <sup>38</sup>	Prospective cohort	According to the Duke's criteria <sup>27</sup> and confirmed by echocardiography	2014- 2015	2 years	23.1+- 13.8	8.7+-9.5	NR	NR	100	100
Sondergaard et al 2019 <sup>39</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2009- 2013	6 years	2.0+-1.3	2.0+-1.2	3.0+- 1.7	3.0+-1.6	139	135
Takeji et al 2020 <sup>40</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2013- 2016	2 years	NR	NR	6.2 (4.6– 9.3)	4.7 (3.4– 6.3)	153	153
Thourani et al 2016 <sup>41</sup>	Prospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	NR	1 year	NR	NR	5.2 (4.3- 6.3)	5.4(4.4- 6.7)	1077	944
Thyregod et al 2015 <sup>42</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2009- 2013	1 year	1.9+-1.2	2.0+-1.3	2.9+- 1.6	3.1+-1.7	145	135
Thyregod et al 2019 <sup>43</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	According to the modified Duke criteria <sup>27</sup>	2009- 2013	5 years	1.9+-1.2	2.0+-1.3	2.9+- 1.6	3.1+-1.7	145	135
Toff et al 2022 <sup>44</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2014- 2018	2 years	2.0 (1.4- 3.0)	2.0 (1.5- 3.3)	2.6 (2.0- 3.5)	2.7 (2.0- 3.4)	458	455
Useini et al 2021 <sup>45</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2012- 2018	Mean follow-up: 19.2 months	NR	NR	4.4 ± 1.5	4.3 ± 3.2	199	182
Vejpongsa et al 2017 <sup>46</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Based on diagnostic admissions codes.	2013	30 days	NR	NR	NR	NR	888	3053
Virtanen et al 2020 <sup>47</sup>	Retrospective cohort	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2008- 2017	Mean follow-up: 3.6+-2.1	5.0+-5.2	4.9+-5.9	3.5+- 2.2	3.5+-2.8	308	308
Waksman et al 2018 <sup>48</sup>	Randomised clinical trial	Adjudicated according to the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 <sup>12</sup>	2016- 2018	30 days	NR	NR	1.8 ± 0.5	1.6±0.6	200	719
										Concluded

#### Primary outcome

Our meta-analysis showed that the pooled incidence of post-TAVI IE was 28% lower than that of post-SAVR IE, although with a high amount of heterogeneity in the magnitude of effect between studies (pooled odds ratio [OR], 0.72; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.58, 0.89, P < 0.01;  $I^2 = 63\%$ ) (**Figure 2**). The overall incidence of IE was 2% for TAVI and 2.5% for SAVR.

Restricting the analysis to RCTs, no significant difference was observed between TAVI and SAVR, with low heterogeneity (pooled odds ratio [OR], 0.93; 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.66, 1.31, P = 0.68;  $I^2 = 21\%$ ) (**Figure 3**).

Sub-analysis of surgical risk revealed no significant difference across the surgical risk (low, intermediate, and high), with low, no, and moderate heterogeneity (pooled OR 0.76; 95% CI [0.46, 1.23], P = 0.26, I<sup>2</sup> = 13%) (pooled OR 1.23; 95% CI [0.86, 1.76], P = 0.26, I<sup>2</sup> = 0%) (pooled OR 0.55; 95% CI [0.28, 1.11], P = 0.09, I<sup>2</sup> = 50%), respectively. Studies reporting IE at 1 year, 2-year, and 5-year follow-up did not show difference between TAVI and SAVR, with low, moderate, and high heterogeneity (pooled OR 0.87; 95% CI [0.59, 1.30], P = 0.51, I<sup>2</sup> = 5%) (pooled OR 0.76; 95% CI [0.48, 1.22], P = 0.26, I<sup>2</sup> = 37%) (pooled OR 0.76; 95% CI [0.41, 1.41], P = 0.38, I<sup>2</sup> = 78%), respectively (**Figure 4 and 5**).

The funnel plots analysis showed no evidence of publication bias (supplementary Figure 1).

Study or Subgroup      Eve        1.1.1 Infective Endocarditis - All S        Abdefatah et al 2021        Amrane et al 2019        Brizdo et al 2019        Brizdo et al 2019        Cahill et al 2019        Cahill et al 2021        Cahill et al 2022        Calderón-Parra et al 2023        Conte et al 2016        Dubois et al 2018        Facchine et al 2014        Facchine et al 2021        Facchine et al 2024        Formandrez-Weiles et al 2023	ents tudies 10 3 27 2 115 140 13 0 3 1 0	Total 762 864 1034 79 2632 14195 278 115 391 73	Events 102 6 53 2 186 2057 5 1 5	Total 1278 791 1345 79 3777 91962 355 111	Weight 1.8% 0.7% 2.3% 0.4% 2.9% 3.1% 1.1%	M-H, Random, 95% CI 0.15 (0.08, 0.30) 0.46 (0.11, 1.83) 0.65 (0.41, 1.05) 1.00 (0.14, 7.28) 0.88 (0.70, 1.12) 0.44 (0.27, 0.52)	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
1.1.1 Infrective Endocarditis - All S Abdefistah et al 2021 Amrane et al 2019 Bianco et al 2019 Bizido et al 2019 Bizido et al 2019 Butt et al 2019 Calileiron-Parra et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Dubbis et al 2016 Dubbis et al 2016 Endon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020	Studies 10 3 27 2 115 140 13 0 3 1 0	762 864 1034 79 2632 14195 278 115 391 73	102 6 53 2 186 2057 5 1 5	1278 791 1345 79 3777 91962 355 111	1.8% 0.7% 2.3% 0.4% 2.9% 3.1% 1.1%	0.15 (0.08, 0.30) 0.46 (0.11, 1.83) 0.65 (0.41, 1.05) 1.00 (0.14, 7.28) 0.88 (0.70, 1.12) 0.44 (0.27, 0.52)	·
Abdeffatha et al 2021 Amrane et al 2019 Brizido et al 2019 Brizido et al 2021 Butt et al 2019 Cahill et al 2022 Calderón-Parra et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Deeb et al 2016 Dubois et al 2013 Faicon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Farmandra-Nufles et al 2023	10 3 27 115 140 13 0 3 1 0	762 864 1034 79 2632 14195 278 115 391 73	102 6 53 2 186 2057 5 1 5	1278 791 1345 79 3777 91962 355 111	1.8% 0.7% 2.3% 0.4% 2.9% 3.1% 1.1%	0.15 [0.08, 0.30] 0.46 [0.11, 1.83] 0.65 [0.41, 1.05] 1.00 [0.14, 7.28] 0.88 [0.70, 1.12] 0.44 [0.37, 0.52]	
Amrane et al 2019 Bianco et al 2019 Brizido et al 2021 Butt et al 2021 Calille et al 2022 Calille et al 2022 Calile on-Parca et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Dubois et al 2016 Dubois et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Avilies et al 2023	3 27 2 115 140 13 0 3 1 0	864 1034 79 2632 14195 278 115 391 73	6 53 2 186 2057 5 1 5	791 1345 79 3777 91962 355 111	0.7% 2.3% 0.4% 2.9% 3.1% 1.1%	0.46 [0.11, 1.83] 0.65 [0.41, 1.05] 1.00 [0.14, 7.28] 0.88 [0.70, 1.12] 0.44 [0.37, 0.52]	
Bianco et al 2019 Brizido et al 2021 Butte al 2021 Caliderón-Para et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Deeb et al 2016 Dubois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Farandre-Willes et al 2023	27 2 115 140 13 0 3 1 0	1034 79 2632 14195 278 115 391 73	53 2 186 2057 5 1 5	1345 79 3777 91962 355 111	2.3% 0.4% 2.9% 3.1% 1.1%	0.65 [0.41, 1.05] 1.00 [0.14, 7.28] 0.88 [0.70, 1.12] 0.44 [0.37, 0.53]	
Brizido et al 2021 Butt et al 2029 Caliderón-Parra et al 2023 Caliderón-Parra et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Dubois et al 2016 Diabois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandre-Avilies et al 2023	2 115 140 13 0 3 1 0	79 2632 14195 278 115 391 73	2 186 2057 5 1 5	79 3777 91962 355 111	0.4% 2.9% 3.1% 1.1%	1.00 [0.14, 7.28] 0.88 [0.70, 1.12] 0.44 [0.27, 0.52]	0
Butt et al 2019 Cahill et al 2022 Collerón-Para et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Deeb et al 2016 Dubois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Ferander-Avilies et al 2023	115 140 13 0 3 1 0	2632 14195 278 115 391 73	186 2057 5 1 5	3777 91962 355 111	2.9% 3.1%	0.88 [0.70, 1.12]	
Cahill et al 2022 Calderón-Parra et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Debb et al 2016 Jubois et al 2013 Faicon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023	140 13 0 3 1 0	14195 278 115 391 73	2057 5 1 5	91962 355 111	3.1%	0 44 10 27 0 521	
Calderón-Parra et al 2023 Conte et al 2016 Deeb et al 2016 Dubois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aulies et al 2023	13 0 3 1 0	278 115 391 73	5 1 5	355 111	1 1 96	0.44 [0.37, 0.32]	
Conte et al 2016 Deeb et al 2016 Dubois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023	0 3 1 0	115 391 73	1 5	111	1.1.29	3.43 [1.21, 9.75]	· · · · · ·
Deeb et al 2016 Dubois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023	3 1 0	391 73	5		0.2%	0.32 (0.01, 7.91)	٠ <u>.</u>
Dubois et al 2013 Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023	1	73		359	0.7%	0.55 [0.13, 2.31]	
Falcon et al 2014 Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023	0		0	35	0.2%	1.47 (0.06, 36,98)	• •
Fauchier et al 2020 Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023		51	4	102	0.2%	0.21 (0.01, 4.02)	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Fernandez-Aviles et al 2023	4/6	16291	594	16291	3.2%	0.80 (0.70, 0.90)	+
	9	520	11	652	1.3%	1.03 (0.42, 2.50)	
Forrest et al 2022	1	725	12	678	0.4%	0.08 [0.01, 0.59]	·
Forrest et al 2023	5	730	8	684	1.0%	0.58 [0.19, 1 79]	
Gleason et al 2018	5	391	5	359	0.8%	0.92 [0.26, 3.19]	
Jorgensen et al 2021	10	145	10	135	1.3%	0.93 (0.37, 2.30)	
Leon et al 2016	11	1011	6	1021	1.1%	1.86 (0.69, 5.05)	
eon et al 2021	1	496	4	454	0.3%	0.23 (0.03. 2.04)	+
Mack et al 2015	5	358	6	351	0.9%	0.81 (0.25, 2.69)	
Madhavan et al 2023	17	783	19	783	1.8%	0.89 (0.46, 1.73)	
Makkar et al 2020	30	1011	19	1021	2.0%	1.61 (0.90, 2.88)	
Morivama et al 2019	19	2130	78	4333	2.2%	0.49 (0.30, 0.81)	
Muneretto et al 2015	0	367	1	336	0.2%	0.30 (0.01, 7.50)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Ponma et al 2019	1	725	3	678	0.3%	0.31 (0.03, 2.99)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Ramlawi et al 2022	Ū.	722	1	680	0.2%	0.31 /0.01 7.711	• • •
Reardon et al 2015	3	391	5	359	0.7%	0.55 (0.13, 2.31)	
Rohertson et al 2022	ñ	16	ů.	30	0.1 10	Not estimable	5 Ca (42)
Baito et al 2022	1	230	6	195	0.3%	0 14 10 02 1 151	4
Sehatzadeh et al 2012	2	333	3	300	0.5%	0.60 (0.10, 3.60)	•
Shehada et al 2018	ñ	100	1	100	0.2%	0.33 (0.01, 8.20)	• •
Bondergaard et al 2019	8	139	8	135	1 1 96	0.97 (0.35, 2.66)	52 10
Takeii et al 2020	1	153	2	153	0.3%	0.50 (0.04, 5.54)	• • • •
Thourani et al 2016	8	1077	6	944	1 1 96	1 17 [0 40 3 39]	
Theread et al 2015	4	145	2	135	0.5%	1 89 [0 34 10 47]	
Thyregod et al 2019	q	145	ĥ	135	11%	1 42 10 49 4 111	
Toff et al 2022	5	458	2	455	0.5%	2 50 10 48 12 951	
Useini et al 2021	2	199	1	182	0.3%	1 84 [0 17 20 44]	
/einonges et al 2017	á	888	73	3053	1 7 %	0.42 [0.11, 20.44]	
/irtanen et al 2020	2	308	2	308	0.4%	1 00 [0 14 7 14]	
Maksaman et al 2018	ñ	200	ń	710	0.470	Not estimable	
Subtotal (95% CI)	000	51661	0	135853	39.2%	0.72 [0.58, 0.89]	•
Total events	958		3315				

Figure 2 Forest plot comparing TAVI versus SAVR prosthetic valve endocarditis; M-H, Mantel-Haenszel.

Amrane et al 2019	3	864	6	791	0.7%	0.46 [0.11, 1.83]	-			
Deeb et al 2016	3	391	5	359	0.7%	0.55 [0.13, 2.31]				
Forrest et al 2022	1	725	12	678	0.4%	0.08 [0.01, 0.59]	+	3		
Forrest et al 2023	5	730	8	684	1.0%	0.58 [0.19, 1.79]	27	-		
Gleason et al 2018	5	391	5	359	0.8%	0.92 [0.26, 3.19]		2		-
lorgensen et al 2021	10	145	10	135	1.3%	0.93 [0.37, 2.30]		22		
_eon et al 2016	11	1011	6	1021	1.1%	1.86 [0.69, 5.05]			2.0	
_eon et al 2021	1	496	4	454	0.3%	0.23 [0.03, 2.04]	+		-	
Mack et al 2015	5	358	6	351	0.9%	0.81 [0.25, 2.69]		27	2.2	
Makkar et al 2020	30	1011	19	1021	2.0%	1.61 [0.90, 2.88]				25
Popma et al 2019	1	725	3	678	0.3%	0.31 [0.03, 2.99]	•			51
Reardon et al 2015	3	391	5	359	0.7%	0.55 [0.13, 2.31]	2			
Sondergaard et al 2019	8	139	8	135	1.1%	0.97 [0.35, 2.66]			-	
Thyregod et al 2015	4	145	2	135	0.5%	1.89 [0.34, 10.47]			2.0	
Thyregod et al 2019	9	145	6	135	1.1%	1.42 [0.49, 4.11]		22	2.4	
Foff et al 2022	5	458	2	455	0.5%	2.50 [0.48, 12.95]		-		
Waksaman et al 2018	0	200	0	719		Not estimable				
Subtotal (95% CI)		8325		8469	13.5%	0.93 [0.66, 1.31]			-	
Fotal events	104		107							
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.10; Cl	hi <sup>2</sup> = 18.93,	df = 15 (F	= 0.22);	I= 21%						

**Figure 3** Forest plot comparing TAVI versus SAVR prosthetic valve endocarditis, only using RCTs; RCTs, randomised controlled trials; M-H, Mantel-Haenszel.

Brízido et al 2021	2	79	2	79	0.4%	1 00 0 14 7 281		
Enrrest et al 2022	1	725	12	678	0.4%	0.08/0.01/0.591	·	
Forrest et al 2023	5	730	8	684	1.0%	0.58 [0.19, 1.79]		
lorgensen et al 2021	10	145	10	135	1 396	0.93 (0.37, 2.30)		
eon et al 2021	1	496	4	454	0.3%	0.23 [0.03, 2.04]	·	
Ponma et al 2019	1	725	3	678	0.3%	0.31 (0.03, 2.99)	· · · ·	-
Ramlawi et al 2022	ů.	722	1	680	0.2%	0.31 [0.01, 7.71]	• •	-
Sondergaard et al 2019	8	139	8	135	1.1%	0.97 (0.35, 2.66)		
Chyregod et al 2015	4	145	2	135	0.5%	1 89 0 34 10 471		
Chyregod et al 2019	9	145	6	135	1.1%	1 42 [0 49 4 11]		
Vaksaman et al 2018	ő	200	ň	719	1.170	Not estimable		
Subtotal (95% CI)		4251	Ŭ	4512	6.5%	0.76 [0.46, 1.23]	-	
Fotal events	41		56					
Heterogeneity Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.08: C	$hi^2 = 10.37$	df = 9 (P =	0 3211	= 13%				
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.1	3 (P = 0.26)	u- 5 (r -	0.52),1	-15%				
1.1.4 Infective Endocarditis -	in Interme	diate Surg	ical Ris	k				
Amrane et al 2019	3	864	6	791	0.7%	0.46 (0.11, 1.83)		
eon et al 2016	11	1011	6	1021	1.1%	1.86 [0.69, 5.05]		
Madhavan et al 2023	17	783	19	783	1.8%	0.89 [0.46, 1.73]		
Makkar et al 2020	30	1011	19	1021	2.0%	1.61.00.90.2.881		
hourani et al 2016	8	1077	6	944	1.1%	1 17 [0 40 3 38]		
Jseini et al 2021	2	199	1	182	0.3%	1 84 0 17 20 441		
Subtotal (95% CI)		4945		4742	7.0%	1.23 [0.86, 1.76]	-	
Fotal events	71		57					
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00; C	$hi^2 = 4.47.0$	f= 5 (P =	0.48): 12:	= 0%				
Fest for overall effect: Z = 1.13	3 (P = 0.26)	- 8						
1.1.5 Infective Endocarditis -	in High Su	gical Risl	(					
Abdelfattah et al 2021	10	762	102	1278	1.8%	0.15 [0.08, 0.30]	·	
Conte et al 2016	0	115	1	111	0.2%	0.32 [0.01, 7.91]	• •	
Deeb et al 2016	3	391	5	359	0.7%	0.55 [0.13, 2.31]		
Dubois et al 2013	1	73	0	35	0.2%	1.47 [0.06, 36.98]	• .	
Falcon et al 2014	0	51	4	102	0.2%	0.21 [0.01, 4.02]	• • •	
Gleason et al 2018	5	391	5	359	0.8%	0.92 [0.26, 3.19]		-
Mack et al 2015	5	358	6	351	0.9%	0.81 [0.25, 2.69]	Aug. (1997)	:
Reardon et al 2015	3	391	5	359	0.7%	0.55 [0.13, 2.31]		
Sehatzadeh et al 2012	2	333	3	300	0.5%	0.60 [0.10, 3.60]	• .	
Toff et al 2022 Subtotal (95% CI)	5	458 3323	2	455 3709	0.5%	2.50 [0.48, 12.95] 0.55 [0.28, 1.11]		
Total events	34		133					
oran oronno	34							

**Figure 4** Forest plot of infective endocarditis in low, intermediate, and high surgical risk patients comparing TAVI versus SAVR prosthetic valve endocarditis; M-H, Mantel-Haenszel.

							1
1.1.6 Infective Endocarditis -	at 1 Year						
Amrane et al 2019	3	864	6	791	0.7%	0.46 [0.11, 1.83]	
Bianco et al 2019	15	1034	28	1345	1.9%	0.69 [0.37, 1.30]	
Calderón-Parra et al 2023	10	278	1	355	0.4%	13.21 [1.68, 103.82]	
Conte et al 2016	0	115	1	111	0.2%	0.32 [0.01, 7.91]	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Dubois et al 2013	1	73	0	35	0.2%	1.47 [0.06, 36.98]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Falcon et al 2014	0	51	4	102	0.2%	0.21 [0.01, 4.02]	4
Gleason et al 2018	2	391	4	359	0.5%	0.46 [0.08, 2.51]	• • •
Leon et al 2016	7	1011	6	1021	1.0%	1.18 [0.40, 3.52]	
Leon et al 2021	1	496	2	454	0.3%	0.46 [0.04, 5.05]	•
Popma et al 2019	1	725	3	678	0.3%	0.31 [0.03, 2.99]	4
Ramlawi et al 2022	0	722	1	680	0.2%	0.31 [0.01, 7.71]	•
Sehatzadeh et al 2012	2	333	3	300	0.5%	0.60 [0.10, 3.60]	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Thourani et al 2016	8	1077	6	944	1.1%	1.17 [0.40, 3.38]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Thyregod et al 2015	4	145	2	135	0.5%	1.89 [0.34, 10.47]	
Toff et al 2022	5	458	2	455	0.5%	2.50 [0.48, 12.95]	
Subtotal (95% CI)		7773		7765	8.3%	0.87 [0.59, 1.30]	-
Total events	59		69				
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.03; C Test for overall effect: Z = 0.67	hi² = 14.68 ' (P = 0.51)	, df = 14 (F	P = 0.40	); I² = 5%			
1.1.7 Infective Endocarditis -	at 2 Years						
Fauchier et al 2020	476	16291	594	16291	3.2%	0.80 [0.70, 0.90]	19 <b>44</b>
Forrest et al 2022	1	725	12	678	0.4%	0.08 [0.01, 0.59]	+
Leon et al 2016	11	1011	6	1021	1.1%	1.86 [0.69, 5.05]	1 <u>1 111</u>
Leon et al 2021	1	496	4	454	0.3%	0.23 [0.03, 2.04]	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Makkar et al 2020	15	1011	13	1021	1.6%	1.17 [0.55, 2.47]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Reardon et al 2015	3	391	5	359	0.7%	0.55 [0.13, 2.31]	N21
Shehada et al 2018	1	100	3	100	0.3%	0.33 [0.03, 3.19]	• • •
Takeii et al 2020	1	153	2	153	0.3%	0.50 (0.04, 5.54)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Subtotal (95% CI)		20178		20077	7.9%	0.76 [0.48, 1.22]	-
Total events	509		639				
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.14; C Test for overall effect: Z = 1.14	hi² = 11.11 I (P = 0.26)	, df = 7 (P	= 0.13);	I <sup>2</sup> = 37%			
1.1.8 Infective Endocarditis -	at 5 Years	1	20.000	10022002			
Abdelfattah et al 2021	10	762	102	1278	1.8%	0.15 [0.08, 0.30]	
Bianco et al 2019	27	1034	53	1345	2.3%	0.65 [0.41, 1.05]	
Brizido et al 2021	2	79	2	79	0.4%	1.00 [0.14, 7.28]	10
Gleason et al 2018	5	391	5	359	0.8%	0.92 [0.26, 3.19]	
Mack et al 2015	5	358	6	351	0.9%	0.81 [0.25, 2.69]	54 - 51 - 10
Madhavan et al 2023	17	783	19	783	1.8%	0.89 [0.46, 1.73]	
Makkar et al 2020	30	1011	19	1021	2.0%	1.61 [0.90, 2.88]	
Thyregod et al 2019 Subtotal (95% Cl)	9	145 4563	6	135	1.1%	1.42 [0.49, 4.11] 0.76 [0.41, 1.41]	
Total events	105	2000.007/	212	00000	1000000000		
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.57; C Test for overall effect: Z = 0.88	hi² = 32.52 3 (P = 0.38)	, df = 7 (P	< 0.000	1); I² = 78	%		
Total (95% CI)		105019		190478	100.0%	0.77 [0.67, 0.88]	•
Total events	1881		4588				
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.14; C	hi <sup>2</sup> = 239.2	7, df = 111	(P < 0.	00001); P	= 54%		
Test for overall effect: Z = 3.87	(P = 0.00	01)					U.1 U.2 U.5 1 2 5 10
Test for subgroup differences	: Chi <sup>2</sup> = 8.4	44, df = 7 (	P = 0.30	), l <sup>2</sup> = 17.	1%		ravouis IAVI Favouis SAVR

**Figure 5** Forest plot of infective endocarditis at 1-, 2- and 5-years comparing TAVI versus SAVR prosthetic valve endocarditis; M-H, Mantel-Haenszel.

#### Secondary outcomes

Regarding secondary end points, no significant differences were noted between TAVI and SAVR for all-cause mortality (pooled OR 1.06; 95% CI [0.91, 1.23], P = 0.47,  $I^2 = 87\%$ ) and stroke (pooled OR 0.91 [0.79, 1.05], P = 0.19,  $I^2 = 39\%$ ) (**Figure 6**).

(A)

(B)



**Figure 6** Forest plot comparing TAVI versus SAVR prosthetic valve endocarditis, (A) all-cause mortality; (B) stroke; M-H, Mantel-Haenszel.

#### Discussion

Our key findings are (1) the incidence of post-TAVI IE was 28% lower than that of post-SAVR IE, with an overall incidence of 2% and 2.5%, respectively; (2) sub-analysis of randomized controlled trials showed no significant difference between TAVI and SAVR; (3) Enterococci and Streptococci are the two most common microorganisms involved in IE post TAVI, followed by Staphylococcus aureus and Coagulase-negative staphylococci. For IE post SAVR, Streptococci and Enterococci are the two most common, followed by Coagulase negative staphylococci and Staphylococcus aureus.

To the best of our knowledge this is the first meta-analysis comprising >170 000 patients comparing post-TAVI IE with post-SAVR IE.

Two previous meta-analysis has also compared the incidence of IE between TAVI and SAVR. One including 10 001 patients from 7 studies, showed an incidence of post-TAVI IE 31% lower than that of post-SAVR IE.<sup>49</sup> The other one including 84 288 patients from 19 studies showed no significant difference between TAVI and SAVR patients, at 30-day, 1-year, 2-year and 5-year follow-up.<sup>50</sup>

Prior studies, including RCTs and observational studies, have compared the incidence of post-TAVI IE with post-SAVR IE. In line with our findings, a previous retrospective cohort using the NICOR databases in England reported a cumulative incidence of IE lower after TAVI than after SAVR (1.5% [95% CI 1.3 to 1.8] vs 2.4% [95% CI 2.3 to 2.5], HR 1.60, p<0.001) over a follow-up period of 60 months.<sup>4</sup>

On the other hand, some retrospectives cohort studies like those using data from the Finn Valve Registry, or the Danish National Patient Registry, identified no difference in the incidence of IE.<sup>7,9</sup> Some RCTs, such as the more recent PARTNER 3 trial and the NOTION trial have suggested a similar incidence of IE after TAVI or SAVR.<sup>5,22,24,26,33</sup>

Regardless of whether the incidence of IE after TAVI is lower or similar to that after SAVR, the hypotheses explaining these results could be the same. One possible explanation is that although TAVI population are usually older and with more comorbidities, its less invasive nature, shorter hospitalization duration, the absence of an open sternotomy wound, the reduced need for blood transfusions and selftransfusions, as well as the absence of many other risk factors associated with surgical procedures, means that the patient is at less risk of direct contamination. The evolution of TAVI over the last decades has shown its increasing applicability to different surgical risk profiles, mainly in high and intermediate risk patients.<sup>1</sup> Some studies like the more recent PARTNER 3 and Evolut Low Risk trials have even shown that TAVI is non-inferiority to SAVR in low surgical risk patients.<sup>5,22,24,33</sup> Our study showing a lower incidence of post-TAVI IE compared to post-SAVR IE, together with the studies showing comparable incidence rates of IE between TAVI and SAVR patients, underlines the potential for expanding TAVI as a primary modality for severe symptomatic AS across surgical risk profiles.

According to the 2023 ESC Guidelines for the management of endocarditis, IE is associated with invasive procedures, which could increase the risk for bacteraemia.<sup>8</sup>Our results indeed suggest that the less-invasive nature of TAVI compared with SAVR may reduce the incidence of post-operative infection like IE.

Identification of modifiable risk factors, including patient-related and procedurerelated, may allow for preventive measures to avoid post-TAVI IE, as used in cardiac devices implantation, outlined in the European Heart Rhythm Association international consensus document.<sup>51</sup> For example, in patients who have fever or signs of active infection, the procedure should be delayed until the patient has been afebrile for at least 24 hours.<sup>52</sup> The development of haematoma increases the risk for infection,<sup>53</sup> therefore in patients who are not at high risk for thrombo-embolic events (e.g. CHA<sub>2</sub>DS<sub>2</sub>VASc score <4), holding anticoagulation for the procedure and restarting when the bleeding risk is reduced seems prudent.<sup>51</sup> Therapeutic low-molecular-weight-heparin should be avoided and antiplatelet agents, especially P2Y12 inhibitors (clopidogrel, prasugrel, ticagrelor) significantly increase the risk for bleeding and should (unless clearly indicated) preferably be discontinued for 5-10 days before the intervention, especially if they are combined with oral anticoagulation.<sup>54–67</sup>

Prophylactic systemic antibiotics may be used with the aim of reducing the risk of prosthetic valve infection, as observed in the prevention of cardiac implantable electronic device infection.<sup>58</sup> Antibiotics must be completed within 1 hour of incision for cefazolin and flucloxaciline, or in case of allergy to cephalosporins, Vancomycin within 90-120 minutes. On the other hand, as there are no data supporting this practice, it is not recommended to administer postoperative antibiotic therapy.<sup>51</sup>

Alcoholic 2% chlorhexidine for skin preparation prior to intra-vascular catheter insertion is superior to povidone-iodine (with or without alcohol).<sup>59</sup> Early re-intervention dramatically increases the risk of infection, delay, or reconsider indication for re-intervention if possible. Furthermore, continuous surveillance programs of infection rates and associated microbiology should be adopted at the level of each implanting centre.<sup>51</sup>

Of course, this will have to be studied, but these data do not have any limitations on the application of these preventive measures to avoid post-TAVI IE.

#### Limitations

Our study has several limitations: i) the meta-analysis was mainly based on observational studies, so the pooled estimates cannot be free of the influence of selection bias; ii) the inclusion of open- label trials, where ascertainment bias is inherent to the trial design. Because event adjudication was not blinded and clinical diagnoses were coded with knowledge of the assigned trial group, the risk of ascertainment bias is probably higher; iii) we found high heterogeneity between the studies, which might be explained by the different study designs and sample sizes; iv) most of the included studies did not report the different microorganisms involved in post-TAVI IE and post-SAVR IE, thus limiting the power of our results in these topic; v) the results obtained for our secondary outcomes may not be as reliable because the incidence of all-cause mortality and stroke was not the primary endpoint of our study, and therefore the sample size was not calculated based on the estimation of all-cause mortality and stroke.

#### Conclusion

The results of our study suggest a lower incidence of IE in TAVI compared to SAVR patients, with no significant difference obtained when analysis was limited to randomized controlled trials. These findings highlight discrepancy between real world experience and clinical trials.

#### Support

The authors have not declared a specific grant for this research from any funding agency in the public, commercial or non-for-profit sectors.

#### **Competing interests**

None declared.

#### Supplementary Material

Supplementary material to this paper is available at:

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1-AHpUFjoLuTdGBgU1rDYgwFIxCHxjHVZ?usp=drive\_link

## Acknowledgements

I thank Doctor Gonçalo Costa for his availability, dedication, patience, understanding and critical spirit in the conception and execution of this work.

I thank Professor Rogério Teixeira for his availability and guidance, which were essential to the success of this thesis.

I thank Professor Lino Gonçalves for this opportunity.

I thank my parents for the gift of life, education, support and unconditional love.

I thank Erivaldo, Zara and Rodrigo for their advice, opinions and encouragement.

I thank my brothers and sisters, my family, my friends and colleagues, who have been essential in bringing me this far.

I thank God for the mission of being a doctor.

#### References

- Vahanian A, Beyersdorf F, Praz F, Milojevic M, Baldus S, Bauersachs J, et al. 2021 ESC/EACTS Guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. Eur Heart J. 2022;43(7):561–632.
- Saito S, Sairenchi T, Hirota S, Niitsuma K, Yokoyama S, Kanno Y, et al. Prosthetic Valve Function after Aortic Valve Replacement for Severe Aortic Stenosis by Transcatheter Procedure versus Surgery. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis. 2022;9(10).
- Calderón-Parra J, de Villarreal-Soto JE, Oteo-Domínguez JF, Mateos-Seirul M, Ríos-Rosado E, Dorado L, et al. Risk of Infective Endocarditis Associated with Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation versus Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement: A Propensity Score-Based Analysis. J Clin Med. 2023;12(2).
- Cahill TJ, Raby J, Jewell PD, Brennan PF, Banning AP, Byrne J, et al. Risk of infective endocarditis after surgical and transcatheter aortic valve replacement. Heart. 2022;108(8):639–47.
- Leon MB, Mack MJ, Hahn RT, Thourani VH, Makkar R, Kodali SK, et al. Outcomes 2 Years After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement in Patients at Low Surgical Risk. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;77(9):1149–61.
- Fauchier L, Bisson A, Herbert J, Lacour T, Bourguignon T, Etienne C Saint, et al. Incidence and outcomes of infective endocarditis after transcatheter aortic valve implantation versus surgical aortic valve replacement. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2020;26(10):1368–74.
- Moriyama N, Laakso T, Biancari F, Raivio P, Jalava MP, Jaakkola J, et al. Prosthetic valve endocarditis after transcatheter or surgical aortic valve replacement with a bioprosthesis: Results from the FinnValve Registry. EuroIntervention. 2019;15(6):E500–7.
- Delgado V, Ajmone Marsan N, De Waha S, Bonaros N, Brida M, Burri H, et al. 2023 ESC
  Guidelines for the management of endocarditis. Eur Heart J. 2023;44(39):3948–4042.
- Butt JH, Ihlemann N, De Backer O, Søndergaard L, Havers-Borgersen E, Gislason GH, et al. Long-Term Risk of Infective Endocarditis After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(13):1646–55.
- 10. Abdelfattah OM, Saad AM, Abushouk A, Hassanein M, Isogai T, Gad MM, et al. Short-Term Outcomes of Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation Versus Surgical Aortic Valve

Replacement in Kidney Transplant Recipients (from the US Nationwide Representative Study). American Journal of Cardiology. 2021;144:83–90.

- Amrane H, Deeb GM, Popma JJ, Yakubov SJ, Gleason TG, Van Mieghem NM, et al. Causes of death in intermediate-risk patients: The Randomized Surgical Replacement and Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation Trial. Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. 2019;158(3):718-728.e3.
- Kappetein AP, Head SJ, Genereux P, Piazza N, van Mieghem NM, Blackstone EH, et al. Updated standardized endpoint definitions for transcatheter aortic valve implantation: the Valve Academic Research Consortium-2 consensus document (VARC-2). European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery. 2012;42(5):S45–60.
- Bianco V, Kilic A, Gleason TG, Lee JS, Schindler J, Aranda-Michel E, et al. Long-term Hospital Readmissions After Surgical Vs Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement. Ann Thorac Surg. 2019;108(4):1146–52.
- Brízido C, Madeira M, Brito J, Madeira S, Campante Teles R, Raposo L, et al. Surgical versus transcatheter aortic valve replacement in low-risk patients: A long-term propensity score-matched analysis. Catheterization and Cardiovascular Interventions. 2021;98(7).
- Li JS, Sexton DJ, Mick N, Nettles R, Fowler VG, Jr. RT, et al. Proposed Modifications to the Duke Criteria for the Diagnosis of Infective Endocarditis. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2000;30(4):633–8.
- Conte J V., Gleason TG, Resar JR, Adams DH, Deeb GM, Popma JJ, et al. Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement in Patients With Prior Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016;101(1):72–9.
- Leon MB, Piazza N, Nikolsky E, Blackstone EH, Cutlip DE, Kappetein AP, et al. Standardized endpoint definitions for transcatheter aortic valve implantation clinical trials: A consensus report from the Valve Academic Research Consortium. Eur Heart J. 2011;32(2):205–17.
- Deeb GM, Reardon MJ, Chetcuti S, Patel HJ, Grossman PM, Yakubov SJ, et al. 3-Year
  Outcomes in High-Risk Patients Who Underwent Surgical or Transcatheter Aortic Valve
  Replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(22):2565–74.

- Dubois C, Coosemans M, Rega F, Poortmans G, Belmans A, Adriaenssens T, et al. Prospective evaluation of clinical outcomes in all-comer high-risk patients with aortic valve stenosis undergoing medical treatment, transcatheter or surgical aortic valve implantation following heart team assessment. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2013;17(3):492–500.
- Falcone M, Russo A, Mancone M, Carriero G, Mazzesi G, Miraldi F, et al. Early, intermediate and late infectious complications after transcatheter or surgical aorticvalve replacement: A prospective cohort study. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2014;20(8):758–63.
- 21. Fernández-Avilés C, Castillo JC, Heredia G, Resúa A, González R, Pan M, et al. Infective endocarditis on transcatheter aortic prosthesis: Are there differences with endocarditis on surgically implanted aortic bioprosthesis? Cardiol J. 2022;29(3):511–3.
- Forrest JK, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Rovin JD, Mumtaz M, Gada H, et al. 2-Year Outcomes After Transcatheter Versus Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement in Low-Risk Patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2022;79(9):882–96.
- Généreux P, Piazza N, Alu MC, Nazif T, Hahn RT, Pibarot P, et al. Valve Academic Research Consortium 3: Updated Endpoint Definitions for Aortic Valve Clinical Research. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;77(21):2717–46.
- Forrest JK, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Gada H, Mumtaz MA, Ramlawi B, et al. 3-Year
  Outcomes After Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement in Low-Risk
  Patients With Aortic Stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2023;81(17):1663–74.
- Gleason TG, Reardon MJ, Popma JJ, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Lee JS, et al. 5-Year
  Outcomes of Self-Expanding Transcatheter Versus Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement in
  High-Risk Patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72(22):2687–96.
- `Jørgensen T, `Thyregod H, `Ihlemann N, `Nissen H, `Petursson P, `Kjeldsen BJ, et al. Eight-year outcomes for patients with aortic valve stenosis at low surgical risk randomized to transcatheter vs. surgical aortic valve replacement. European Heart Journal . 2021;42:2912–9.
- Durack DT, Lukes AS,, Bright DK. New Criteria for Diagnosis of Infective Endocarditis: Utilization of Specific Echocardiographic Findings. Duke Endocarditis Service. Am J Med. 1994;96:200–9.

- Leon MB, Smith CR, Mack MJ, Makkar RR, Svensson LG, Kodali SK, et al. Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic-Valve Replacement in Intermediate-Risk Patients. New England Journal of Medicine. 2016;374(17):1609–20.
- 29. Mack MJ, Leon MB, Smith CR, Miller DC, Moses JW, Tuzcu EM, et al. 5-year outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve replacement or surgical aortic valve replacement for high surgical risk patients with aortic stenosis (PARTNER 1): A randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2015;385(9986):2477–84.
- Madhavan M V., Kodali SK, Thourani VH, Makkar R, Mack MJ, Kapadia S, et al. Outcomes of SAPIEN 3 Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement Compared With Surgical Valve Replacement in Intermediate-Risk Patients. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2023;82(2):109–23.
- Makkar RR, Thourani VH, Mack MJ, Kodali SK, Kapadia S, Webb JG, et al. Five-Year Outcomes of Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic-Valve Replacement. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020;382(9):799–809.
- 32. Muneretto C, Alfieri O, Cesana BM, Bisleri G, De Bonis M, Di Bartolomeo R, et al. A comparison of conventional surgery, transcatheter aortic valve replacement, and sutureless valves in "real-world" patients with aortic stenosis and intermediate- to high-risk profile Read at the 95th Annual Meeting of the American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Seattle, Washington, April 25-29, 2015. In: Journal of Thoracic and Cardiovascular Surgery. Mosby Inc.; 2015. p. 1570–9.
- Popma JJ, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Mumtaz M, Gada H, O'Hair D, et al. Transcatheter Aortic-Valve Replacement with a Self-Expanding Valve in Low-Risk Patients. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019;380(18):1706–15.
- Ramlawi B, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Markowitz AH, Hughes GC, Kiaii RB, et al.
  Mechanisms of Death in Low-Risk Patients After Transcatheter or Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement. Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine. 2022;42:1–5.
- Reardon MJ, Adams DH, Kleiman NS, Yakubov SJ, Coselli JS, Deeb GM, et al. 2-Year
  Outcomes in Patients Undergoing Surgical or Self-Expanding Transcatheter Aortic Valve
  Replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;66(2):113–21.
- 36. Robertson DM, Boucek DM, Martin MH, Gray RG, Griffiths ER, Eckhauser AW, et al. Transcatheter and Surgical Aortic Valve Implantation in Children, Adolescents, and

Young Adults With Congenital Heart Disease. American Journal of Cardiology. 2022;177:128–36.

- Sehatzadeh S, Doble B, Xie F, Blackhouse G, Campbell K, Kaulback K, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) for treatment of aortic valve stenosis: an evidencebased Analysis (part B). Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2012;12(14):1–62.
- 38. Shehada SE, Wendt D, Peters D, Mourad F, Marx P, Thielmann M, et al. Infections after transcatheter versus surgical aortic valve replacement: Mid-term results of 200 consecutive patients. J Thorac Dis. 2018;10(7):4342–52.
- Søndergaard L, Ihlemann N, Capodanno D, Jørgensen TH, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, et al. Durability of Transcatheter and Surgical Bioprosthetic Aortic Valves in Patients at Lower Surgical Risk. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;73(5):546–53.
- 40. Takeji Y, Taniguchi T, Morimoto T, Saito N, Ando K, Shirai S, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation vs. Surgical aortic valve replacement for severe aortic stenosis in real-world clinical practice. Circulation Journal. 2020;84(5):806–14.
- Thourani VH, Kodali S, Makkar RR, Herrmann HC, Williams M, Babaliaros V, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement versus surgical valve replacement in intermediate-risk patients: A propensity score analysis. The Lancet. 2016;387(10034):2218–25.
- Thyregod HGH, Steinbrüchel DA, Ihlemann N, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al. Transcatheter Versus Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement in Patients With Severe Aortic Valve Stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015;65(20):2184–94.
- Thyregod HGH, Ihlemann N, Jørgensen TH, Nissen H, Kjeldsen BJ, Petursson P, et al.
  Five-Year Clinical and Echocardiographic Outcomes from the NOTION Randomized
  Clinical Trial in Patients at Lower Surgical Risk. Circulation. 2019;139(24):2714–23.
- 44. Toff WD, Hildick-Smith D, Kovac J, Mullen MJ, Wendler O, Mansouri A, et al. Effect of Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation vs Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement on All-Cause Mortality in Patients With Aortic Stenosis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA -Journal of the American Medical Association. 2022;327(19):1875–87.
- 45. Useini D, Beluli B, Christ H, Schlömicher M, Ewais E, Haldenwang P, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve replacement using the SAPIEN 3 valve versus surgical aortic valve replacement using the rapid deployment INTUITY valve: Midterm outcomes. J Card Surg. 2021;36(2):610–7.

28

- 46. Vejpongsa P, Bhise V, Charitakis K, Vernon Anderson H, Balan P, Nguyen TC, et al. Early readmissions after transcatheter and surgical aortic valve replacement. Catheterization and Cardiovascular Interventions. 2017;90(4):662–70.
- 47. Virtanen MPO, Eskola M, Savontaus M, Juvonen T, Niemelä M, Laakso T, et al. Mid-term outcomes of Sapien 3 versus Perimount Magna Ease for treatment of severe aortic stenosis. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2020;15(1).
- Waksman R, Rogers T, Torguson R, Gordon P, Ehsan A, Wilson SR, et al. Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement in Low-Risk Patients With Symptomatic Severe Aortic Stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72(18):2095–105.
- Wang J, Wang X, Hou F, Yuan W, Dong R, Wang L, et al. Infective Endocarditis After Transcatheter Versus Surgical Aortic Valve Replacement: A Meta-Analysis. Angiology. 2020;71(10):955–65.
- Ullah W, Khan MS, Gowda SN, Alraies MC, Fischman DL. Prosthetic Valve Endocarditis in Patients Undergoing TAVR Compared to SAVR: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine. 2020;21(12):1567–72.
- 51. Blomström-Lundqvist C, Traykov V, Erba PA, Burri H, Nielsen JC, Bongiorni MG, et al. European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) international consensus document on how to prevent, diagnose, and treat cardiac implantable electronic device infectionsendorsed of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ESCMID) in collaboration with the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). . EP Europace. 2020;22(4):515–49.
- 52. Klug D, Balde M, Pavin D, Hidden-Lucet F, Clementy J, Sadoul N, et al. Risk factors related to infections of implanted pacemakers and cardioverter-defibrillators: Results of a large prospective study. Circulation. 2007;116(12):1349–55.
- Essebag V, Verma A, Healey JS, Krahn AD, Kalfon E, Coutu B, et al. Clinically significant pocket hematoma increases long-term risk of device infection: BRUISE CONTROL INFECTION study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67(11):1300–8.
- Robinson M, Healey JS, Eikelboom J, Schulman S, Morillo CA, Nair GM, et al.
  Postoperative low-molecular-weight heparin bridging is associated with an increase in wound hematoma following surgery for pacemakers and implantable defibrillators.
  PACE Pacing and Clinical Electrophysiology. 2009;32(3):378–82.

- Birnie DH, Healey JS, Wells GA, Verma A, Tang AS, Krahn AD, et al. Pacemaker or Defibrillator Surgery without Interruption of Anticoagulation. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013;368(22):2084–93.
- Du L, Zhang Y, Wang W, Hou Y. Perioperative Anticoagulation Management in Patients on Chronic Oral Anticoagulant Therapy Undergoing Cardiac Devices Implantation: A Meta-Analysis. Vol. 37, PACE - Pacing and Clinical Electrophysiology. 2014. p. 1573–86.
- 57. Kutinsky IB, Jarandilla R, Jewett M, Haines DE. Risk of hematoma complications after device implant in the clopidogrel era. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2010;3(4):312–8.
- Polyzos KA, Konstantelias AA, Falagas ME. Risk factors for cardiac implantable electronic device infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Vol. 17, Europace. Oxford University Press; 2015. p. 767–77.
- 59. Mimoz O, Lucet JC, Kerforne T, Pascal J, Souweine B, Goudet V, et al. Skin antisepsis with chlorhexidine-alcohol versus povidone iodine-alcohol, with and without skin scrubbing, for prevention of intravascular-catheter-related infection (CLEAN): An openlabel, multicentre, randomised, controlled, two-by-two factorial trial. The Lancet. 2015;386(10008):2069–77.